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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 

Civil Action No. 

 

KIMBERLY L. ANDREE, 

        

 Plaintiff,          

v. 

 

JOSEPH HOY, individually and in his official capacity as the Sheriff of Eagle County,  

  

 Defendant. 

______________________________________________________________________________      

 

COMPLAINT 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 COMES NOW Plaintiff by and through her attorneys, Karp Neu Hanlon, P.C., and for a 

Complaint against the Defendant alleges and avers the following: 

1. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 over the civil rights claims brought 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983; 42 U.S.C. §2000e, otherwise known as Title VII of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964, as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991 (“Title VII”); the Age Discrimination in 

Employment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq., as amended (hereinafter the "ADEA"); and the 

Court’s supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) in that the 

state law claims set forth herein are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same 

case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 

2. Plaintiff is a female citizen and domiciliary of the State and District of Colorado, is within 

the category of individuals protected by Title VII, and is over the age of forty and therefore falls 

within the protected age group under the ADEA. 
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3. Defendant Joseph Hoy is the Sheriff of Eagle County, Colorado.  Defendant ran for 

re-election in November, 2010, and was re-elected by a narrow margin.  He is sued in his official 

capacity as the Sheriff of Eagle County and individually as set forth herein.  At all times relevant 

and material to some of these claims, Defendant was a person acting under color of Colorado law.  

4. Defendant is an official elected pursuant to the Colorado Constitution and, in his official 

capacity, is the highest ranking representative of the Eagle County Sheriff’s Office (hereinafter 

“Sheriff’s Office”).  Defendant is the final decision-maker and has policymaking authority for the 

Sheriff’s Office.   

5. Plaintiff was first hired by the Sheriff’s Office in 1982.  At the time of her termination she 

was the administrative lieutenant in charge of the Sheriff’s Office operations, including the 

Sheriff’s Office budget but excluding the operations of the jail, was a member of Defendant’s 

command staff, and was the highest ranked female employee of the Sheriff’s Office.  

Nonetheless, Defendant treated her disparately as compared to male and younger members of the 

command staff and employees of the Department.   An example of this disparate treatment is Ken 

Wilson, a command staff member, received a severance package of 18 months of pay and 18 

months of paid medical insurance after 20 years of service. Within the Sheriff’s Department there 

were four supervisors of Plaintiff’s grade, three of whom were males.  Plaintiff’s duties were 

more extensive than the males but she was not compensated as much as the males, not recognized 

for this additional work, and not given additional support to carry out these duties. The men 

continued to have the appropriate span of control. Plaintiff was replaced by a 27 year old with less 

experience and knowledge than Plaintiff.  Plaintiff received high grades in her evaluations.  

Plaintiff had requested the Defendant to terminate or demote her replacement on two separate 

occasions and he declined to do so. The three male grade 34 supervisors and Plaintiff’s 
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replacement received more training dollars and hours in 2008, 2009 and 2010 than Plaintiff 

received.   

6. At various times in 2010, Plaintiff discussed and supported the claims of gender 

discrimination of employees of the Sheriff’s Office. 

7. In August, 2010, Defendant entered into an agreement with and promised Plaintiff that if 

she agreed to retire, but stayed with the Sheriff’s Office until after the upcoming election and 

provide various services, Defendant would pay her severance pay and other benefits.  The 

agreement and promise included, inter alia, the following terms: two years of salary to be paid to 

Plaintiff in two lump sums, insurance benefits for Plaintiff for a period of eighteen months, the 

donation of Plaintiff’s sick leave to an employee who is suffering any terminal or chronic illness, 

Plaintiff’s commitment to non-disclosure and confidentiality, educational assistance, completion 

of projects by Plaintiff, Plaintiff’s assistance with the transfer of knowledge to others, and 

Plaintiff’s agreement to act as a consultant. 

8. Plaintiff agreed to remain in her employment past the election date in November, 2010, and 

until December 2, 2010, as a further benefit to Defendant .  Plaintiff did so.   

9. Following Defendant’s promise and agreement, as described above, and in reliance 

thereon, Plaintiff began classes to prepare herself for her future following retirement from the 

Sheriff’s Office and she continued her employment, transferred knowledge to others and 

completed various projects as agreed.   

10. On or about October 22, 2010, Plaintiff timely filed charges of discrimination with the 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) asserting violations of Title VII and the 

ADEA against the Defendant.     

11. During the course of Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, she was privy to a “hit list” 

prepared by Defendant setting forth the names of older female employees to be terminated.   
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12. Following the election of Defendant and on November 15, 2010, Defendant advised 

Plaintiff that he would not abide by the agreement and promise and he terminated Plaintiff’s 

employment effective December 3, 2010.  Defendant did not provide Plaintiff with an 

opportunity to be heard regarding his decision to terminate her employment. 

13. Plaintiff performed all conditions precedent in the agreement and promise and carried out 

all her responsibilities in reliance on the terms and conditions of the agreement and promise. 

14. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendant’s conduct as described above, Plaintiff 

has suffered and will continue to suffer, damages, losses and injuries, including but not limited to 

loss of earnings and income, loss of benefits, emotional pain, suffering, distress, humiliation and 

embarrassment and other losses and injuries all to her damage in an amount to be determined at 

trial. 

15. Defendant has acted in a manner that was arbitrary, capricious without rational basis, and 

was willful and wanton and in disregard of the rights and feelings of the Plaintiff, entitling Plaintiff 

to an award of punitive and exemplary damages. 

16. Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory, exemplary, and punitive damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial. 

17. Plaintiff is entitled to her reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1988, Title VII, the ADEA and Colorado law. 

18. Plaintiff has exhausted all necessary administrative remedies.  A Notice of Right to Sue 

was issued and Plaintiff has timely brought this action after receipt of same. 

19. Defendant, in his individual capacity, has interfered with the agreement and promise 

described above and with Plaintiff’s agreement with the Sheriff’s Office.  Upon information and 

belief, Defendant did so because of Plaintiff’s attempts to enforce the promise and agreement,  
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because Plaintiff filed charges of discrimination with the EEOC and in retaliation for Plaintiff’s 

participation in protected activity under Title VII and the ADEA. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

20. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

21. Defendant’s acts were in violation of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 in that they deprived Plaintiff 

of her constitutional property interests and rights without due process as guaranteed by the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.   

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

22. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein.   

23. Defendant breached the agreement with the Plaintiff. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

24. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein.   

25. Defendant is promissorily estopped from denying the agreement and promise to and with 

Plaintiff. 

26. Defendant Hoy breached the promise to Plaintiff.  

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

27. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

28. The termination and disparate treatment of Plaintiff was in violation of Title VII.  

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

29. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

30. The termination of Plaintiff was retaliation for protected activities under Title VII.  

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

31. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

32. The termination and disparate treatment of Plaintiff was in violation of the ADEA. 
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SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

33. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

34. The termination of Plaintiff was in retaliation for protected activities under the ADEA. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

35. Plaintiff realleges the paragraphs above and incorporates same herein. 

36. Defendant tortiously interfered with the employment of Plaintiff and with her agreement 

and promise.   

WHEREFORE Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendant and that the Court do the 

following:  

1.   Award Plaintiff her damages, compensatory, actual, and otherwise, in an amount to 

be determined at trial; 

 2.   Award Plaintiff exemplary and punitive damages in an amount to be determined at 

trial; 

 3.   Award plaintiff reasonable attorneys fees and costs;  

4. Order specific performance of the agreement and promise; 

5. Award front pay or reinstatement; 

 6. Enjoin further violations of Title VII and the ADEA by Defendant;                

 7. Award interest, interest from the date of the occurrence as provided by Colorado  

 

law, costs, and expert witness fees, all as provided by law; and 

   

 8.   Award Plaintiff such other relief as this Court deems equitable, just, and  

 

appropriate. 
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PLAINTIFF DEMANDS TRIAL TO A JURY OF SIX (6). 

 

       Respectfully submitted, 

 

       KARP NEU HANLON, P.C. 

 

     

       By:     /s/*Sander N. Karp                              

          Sander N. Karp (1088) 

        201 14
th

 Street, Suite 200 

        Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 

        Phone: (970) 945-2261 

        Facsimile: (970) 945-7336 

snk@mountainlawfirm.com  

    

Address of Plaintiff: 

P.O. Box 5995 

Eagle, CO 81631 
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